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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS  

SHERMAN DIVISION  

  

BRYAN JALLO, on behalf of himself §   

and others similarly situated   §  

     § CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff     §   

§ Civil Action No.: 

vs.      §   

§ Jury Trial Demanded  

EXPERIAN INFORMATION  §   

SOLUTIONS, INC. and TRANS UNION, §  

LLC,      § 

      § 

Defendants     §  

  

Nature of Action 

1. This is an action for damages brought by Bryan Jallo (“Plaintiff”), an individual, 

pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., against Experian 

Information Solutions, Inc. (“Experian”) and Trans Union, LLC (“TransUnion”) (together, 

“Defendants”). 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

2. This Court has jurisdiction under 15 U.S.C. § 1681p and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

3. Venue is proper before this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as Plaintiff resides in 

this district, the acts and transactions giving rise to Plaintiff’s action occurred in this district, and 

as Defendants transact business in this district. 

Parties 

4. Plaintiff is a natural person who at all times resided in Wylie, Texas. 

5. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(c). 
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6. Experian is a for-profit corporation with headquarters in Schaumburg, Illinois 

engaged in the business of assembling or evaluating consumer credit information or other 

information on consumers for the purpose of reporting or furnishing consumer reports to third 

parties. 

7. Experian uses the means and facilities of interstate commerce for the purpose of 

preparing or furnishing consumer reports. 

8. Experian is a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f). 

9. TransUnion is a for-profit limited liability company with corporate headquarters in 

Chicago, Illinois engaged in the business of assembling or evaluating consumer credit information 

or other information on consumers for the purpose of reporting or furnishing consumer reports to 

third parties. 

10. TransUnion uses the means and facilities of interstate commerce for the purpose of 

preparing or furnishing consumer reports. 

11. TransUnion is a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f).  

Factual Allegations 

A. Background 

12. In or around March 2009, Plaintiff began making monthly payments to his ex-wife 

for child support and related obligations. 

13. Plaintiff made these monthly payments, as agreed upon, until approximately May 

2011, at which time he left the military and was unable to find employment for a period of 

approximately four months. 
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14. In September of 2011, Plaintiff again began making monthly payments to his ex-

wife for child support and related obligations, albeit in an amount less than what he originally 

agreed to pay to his ex-wife per month. 

15. In August of 2012, the 199th Judicial District Court, Collin County, Texas issued 

an order directing Plaintiff to pay $480 per month to his ex-wife for child support and related 

obligations. 

16. Plaintiff has timely made this payment every month since then. 

17. In June of 2013, Plaintiff began the process of repairing his credit record, credit 

history, and credit rating. During this ongoing process, in late 2014, Plaintiff learned of certain 

inaccuracies on his Experian and TransUnion credit reports concerning certain of his child support 

payments. The Experian and TransUnion reports erroneously listed multiple payments as “past 

due,” for as many as 150 days, as described in detail below. 

18. Significantly, Plaintiff’s credit report issued by rival Equifax Information Services, 

LLC (“Equifax”) lists no such inaccurate delinquencies. 

B. Experian 

19. In December of 2014, Experian reported the following nine “Office of the Atty 

Gener” payments as being delinquent: 

July 2012 120 days past due 

January 2014 30 days past due 

April 2014 60 days past due 

May 2014  30 days past due 

July 2014 150 days past due 
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August 2014 120 days past due 

September 2014 90 days past due 

October 2014 60 days past due 

November 2014 30 days past due 

 

20. Concerned about the negative consequences of these reported delinquencies on his 

credit standing, on or about February 13, 2015, Plaintiff disputed Experian’s designation of the 

foregoing Texas Attorney General’s Office payments as being “past due.” With his dispute, 

Plaintiff also provided a statement from the Texas Attorney General’s Office confirming that 

Plaintiff had timely made the foregoing payments. 

21. On or about February 23, 2015, Experian initially responded to Plaintiff’s dispute 

as follows: 

Thank you for submitting your complaint on February 13, 2015, through 

the CFPB Complaint Portal. We appreciate consumers who take the time to 

let us know about their experiences with our company. We have reviewed 

and considered the information, including the attachment, you have 

supplied through the CFPB portal and directly to Experian. Although we 

were not able to use the documentation you supplied through the CFPB 

portal and directly to Experian to remove and/or update the disputed 

information, we were able to use it to reinvestigate the information. Per your 

recent contact to Experian, we have been in the process of contacting the 

data furnisher to verify the accuracy of the information with which you 

disagree. Please note that an investigation may take up to 30 days. Upon 

completion, the result summary will be provided directly to you for review. 

For additional assistance, you may call the toll free telephone number 

provided on your personal credit report obtained directly from Experian, or 

write to Experian at P.O. Box 9701, Allen, TX 75013. For more information 

regarding your credit and frequently asked questions, you may visit: 

http://www.experian.com/blogs/ask-experian. Thank you for submitting 

your complaint through the CFPB Complaint Portal. It is our policy to 

respond to consumer complaints swiftly and to take each complaint 

seriously. We appreciate you letting us know about your experiences with 

Experian. 
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22. Then, on or about March 30, 2015, Experian sent a subsequent response to Plaintiff, 

which read as follows: 

Thank you for submitting your complaint on February 13, 2015, through 

the CFPB Complaint Portal. We appreciate consumers who take the time to 

let us know about their experiences with our company. We have reviewed 

and considered the information, including the attachment, you have 

supplied through the CFPB portal and directly to Experian. In your 

complaint, you indicate there is a creditor reporting inaccurate late 

payments on your credit report. You state you have included a statement 

from the creditor that shows all payments were made. You further state you 

disputed this information but the late payments remained. You are 

requesting that the late payments be removed from the account. Although 

we were not able to use the documentation you supplied through the CFPB 

portal to remove the disputed information, we are able to use it to 

reinvestigate the information. We contacted the data furnisher and asked 

them to verify the accuracy of the information with which you disagree. The 

data furnisher responded and verified that the disputed information was 

accurate as reported. The result summary was provided to you on March 3, 

2015. If you have any additional supporting new documentation regarding 

the disputed information, you may forward that to Experian for further 

review. If you disagree with the results of the reinvestigations, it is your 

legal right, under the FCRA, to add a 100-word statement specifying the 

nature of your dispute. The consumer statement will appear on your credit 

report and be viewable upon inquiry. If you would like our assistance in 

providing a concise statement, please contact us directly at the telephone 

number or address provided on your personal credit report and we would be 

happy to assist you. You may refer to the credit report that you received for 

the name, phone number (if available) and address of the data furnisher or 

public records office name who verified that information. For additional 

assistance, you may call the toll free telephone number provided on your 

personal credit report, obtained directly from Experian, or write to Experian 

at P.O. Box 9701, Allen, TX 75013. In addition, for more information 

regarding your credit and frequently asked questions, you may visit: 

http://www.experian.com/blogs/ask-experian. Thank you for submitting 

your complaint through the CFPB Complaint Portal. It is our policy to 

respond to consumer complaints swiftly and to take each complaint 

seriously. We appreciate you letting us know about your experiences with 

Experian. 
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23. Thus, Experian ultimately rejected Plaintiff’s dispute—despite documentation from 

the Texas Attorney General’s Office confirming such payments had been timely made—and the 

erroneous “Office of the Atty Gener” delinquencies remained on Plaintiff’s Experian credit file. 

C. TransUnion 

24. In January 2015, TransUnion reported Plaintiff’s July 2012 “Texas Attorney 

General Office” payment as 120 days past due. 

25. Around this time, Plaintiff disputed TransUnion’s designation of his July 2012 

“Texas Attorney General Office” payment as 120 days past due. 

26. TransUnion responded to Plaintiff’s dispute as follows: 

We have reviewed your complaint along with the information you 

previously provided regarding this issue. As a result of our research, we 

were able to determine that the account being reported by the Texas 

Attorney General Office #1185xxxx is reporting the account as being 1 time 

90 days or more late in July 2012 with an effective date of January 30, 2015. 

 

27. Thus, TransUnion processed Plaintiff’s initial dispute but found no errors, and 

accordingly made no changes to its records regarding the July 2012 “past due” payment. 

28. However, subsequent to Plaintiff’s initial dispute concerning the one recorded “past 

due” payment from July 2012, suddenly his TransUnion credit report now listed nine separate 

delinquencies. That is, on February 3, 2015, TransUnion reported nine of Plaintiff’s “Texas 

Attorney General Office” payments as past due: 

July 2012 120 days past due 

January 2014 30 days past due 

April 2014 60 days past due 

May 2014  30 days past due 
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July 2014 120 days past due 

August 2014 120 days past due 

September 2014 90 days past due 

October 2014 60 days past due 

November 2014 30 days past due 

 

29. Understandably surprised and concerned by these newfound discrepancies, 

Plaintiff immediately sent TransUnion a second dispute, this time seeking corrections for the 

foregoing nine “Texas Attorney General Office” inaccuracies. Plaintiff’s dispute read as follows: 

I disputed one late payment on my TU report regarding the trade line 

TEXAS ATTORNEY GENERAL OFFICE #1185**** for child support 

arrears. The dispute was completed and came back as verified, no change. 

However, there are now multiple late payments listed, a total of 9 instead of 

the initial one late payment. I spoke with the Texas Attorney General’s 

office and verified they are only reporting one late, which they explained to 

me is correct because there are payments in arrears from before the account 

was set up. The only late payment is from July 2012 when the account was 

created. I will attach a copy of the payment history from the state showing 

there are no late payments. I did speak with a rep at Transunion who’s 

solution was to dispute again. If the initial dispute resulted in multiple 

incorrect lates being applied, I do not believe a 2nd dispute will have a 

positive result. I will also attach the most recent copy of my TU report 

showing the erroneous late payments. 

 

30. TransUnion subsequently corrected Plaintiff’s credit file to remove the disputed 

delinquencies, as reflected on a February 13, 2015 TransUnion credit report obtained by Plaintiff. 

31. However, not long after TransUnion’s corrections, the once-removed “Texas 

Attorney General Office” delinquencies suddenly reappeared. The previously deleted information 

had been reinserted into Plaintiff’s credit file, without notice. 
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32. Accordingly, Plaintiff again contacted the Texas Attorney’s General office, which 

re-confirmed to Plaintiff that it was not reporting past due payments on his account. 

33. Thus, on March 16, 2015, Plaintiff again contacted TransUnion to dispute the 

reported delinquencies: 

This was initially corrected. After checking my credit report again today, 

there are again 9 late payments listed on my Transunion report. I again 

contacted the Texas Attorney General’s office. They are not reporting late 

payments. They stated specifically they only report the balance each month. 

Please correct ASAP. 

 

34. However, despite Plaintiff’s repeated requests for reinvestigation and correction, 

the disputed “Texas Attorney General Office” delinquencies remained on his TransUnion credit 

file, to Plaintiff’s detriment. 

Count I: Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) 

Against Both Defendants 

35. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1-34 

above. 

36. The FCRA at 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) provides: 

(b) Accuracy of report. Whenever a consumer reporting agency prepares a 

consumer report it shall follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum 

possible accuracy of the information concerning the individual about whom 

the report relates. 
 

37. Here, Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) by failing to establish or to follow 

such reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy in the preparation of the credit 

reports and credit files they published and maintained concerning Plaintiff.  Specifically, 

Defendants failed to establish or to follow reasonable procedures to avoid the inaccuracies 
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regarding allegedly late child support payments included in Defendants’ credit reports and credit 

files concerning Plaintiff, particularly after Plaintiff disputed such inaccuracies to Defendants. 

38. As a result of Defendants’ conduct as described herein, Plaintiff has suffered 

damages including, but not limited to, loss of credit, loss of the ability to purchase and benefit 

from credit, time and expense disputing the incorrect reporting, and the mental and emotional pain 

and anguish and the humiliation and embarrassment of credit denials. 

39. Defendants’ conduct, action(s), and/or inaction was willful, rendering them liable 

to Plaintiff for damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n. 

40. In the alternative, Defendants’ conduct, action(s), and/or inaction was negligent, 

entitling Plaintiff to recover damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681o.  

Count II: Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681i 

Against Both Defendants 

41. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1-34 

above. 

42. The FCRA at 15 U.S.C. § 1681i provides, in pertinent part: 

(a) Reinvestigations of Disputed Information 

(1) Reinvestigation Required 

(A) In general. Subject to subsection (f), if the completeness or 

accuracy of any item of information contained in a consumer’s file 

at a consumer reporting agency is disputed by the consumer and the 

consumer notifies the agency directly, or indirectly through a 

reseller, of such dispute, the agency shall, free of charge, conduct a 

reasonable reinvestigation to determine whether the disputed 

information is inaccurate and record the current status of the 

disputed information, or delete the item from the file in accordance 

with paragraph (5), before the end of the 30-day period beginning 

on the date on which the agency receives the notice of the dispute 

from the consumer or reseller. 
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* * * 

(5) Treatment of Inaccurate or Unverifiable Information 

(A) In general. If, after any reinvestigation under paragraph (1) of 

any information disputed by a consumer, an item of the information 

is found to be inaccurate or incomplete or cannot be verified, the 

consumer reporting agency shall– 

(i) promptly delete that item of information from the file of the 

consumer, or modify that item of information, as appropriate, 

based on the results of the reinvestigation; and 

(ii) promptly notify the furnisher of that information that the 

information has been modified or deleted from the file of the 

consumer. 

(B) Requirements Relating to Reinsertion of Previously Deleted 

Material 

(i) Certification of accuracy of information. If any information 

is deleted from a consumer’s file pursuant to subparagraph (A), 

the information may not be reinserted in the file by the consumer 

reporting agency unless the person who furnishes the 

information certifies that the information is complete and 

accurate. 

(ii) Notice to consumer. If any information that has been deleted 

from a consumer’s file pursuant to subparagraph (A) is 

reinserted in the file, the consumer reporting agency shall notify 

the consumer of the reinsertion in writing not later than 5 

business days after the reinsertion or, if authorized by the 

consumer for that purpose, by any other means available to the 

agency. 

(iii) Additional information. As part of, or in addition to, the 

notice under clause (ii), a consumer reporting agency shall 

provide to a consumer in writing not later than 5 business days 

after the date of the reinsertion 

(I) a statement that the disputed information has been 

reinserted; 
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(II) the business name and address of any furnisher of 

information contacted and the telephone number of such 

furnisher, if reasonably available, or of any furnisher of 

information that contacted the consumer reporting agency, 

in connection with the reinsertion of such information; and 

(III) a notice that the consumer has the right to add a 

statement to the consumer’s file disputing the accuracy or 

completeness of the disputed information. 

(C) Procedures to prevent reappearance. A consumer reporting 

agency shall maintain reasonable procedures designed to prevent the 

reappearance in a consumer’s file, and in consumer reports on the 

consumer, of information that is deleted pursuant to this paragraph 

(other than information that is reinserted in accordance with 

subparagraph (B)(i)). 

43. Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681i on multiple occasions by failing to correct 

inaccurate information in Plaintiff’s credit files after receiving actual notice of such inaccuracies—

namely, the allegedly late child support payments which Plaintiff disputed—by failing to conduct 

a lawful reinvestigation, and by otherwise failing to comply with the procedures outlined in section 

1681i for the reinvestigation and subsequent treatment of disputed inaccurate information. 

Moreover, TransUnion further violated the statute by reinserting into Plaintiff’s credit previously 

deleted material, by failing to provide Plaintiff proper notice upon its reinsertion of the previously 

deleted material, and by failing to maintain reasonable procedures to prevent such reinsertion. 

44. As a result of Defendants’ conduct as described herein, Plaintiff has suffered 

damages including, but not limited to, loss of credit, loss of the ability to purchase and benefit 

from credit, time and expense disputing the incorrect reporting, and the mental and emotional pain 

and anguish and the humiliation and embarrassment of credit denials. 

45. Defendants’ conduct, action(s), and/or inaction was willful, rendering them liable 

to Plaintiff for damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n. 
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46. In the alternative, Defendants’ conduct, action(s), and/or inaction was negligent, 

entitling Plaintiff to recover damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681o. 

Trial by Jury 

47. Plaintiff requests a trial by jury. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment as follows; 

a) Adjudging that Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681e(b) and 1681i; 

b) Awarding Plaintiff statutory and/or actual damages, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 

1681n(a)(1)(A) and 1681o(a); 

c) Awarding Plaintiff reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in this action, 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681n(a)(3) and 1681o(a); 

d) Awarding Plaintiff punitive damages, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(2); 

e) Awarding other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

 

Date: October 26, 2015   Respectfully Submitted,  

/s/ Aaron. D. Radbil 

Aaron D. Radbil  

Greenwald Davidson PLLC 

106 E. Sixth Street, Suite 913 

Austin, Texas 78701 

Phone: (512) 322-3912 

Fax: (561) 961-5684 

aradbil@gdrlawfirm.com 
 

 

 


